No. 68413-2-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KENNETH SANDHOLM,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, FOR KING COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GREGORY C. LINK Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
В.	ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 1
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D.	ARGUMENT4
	1. Mr. Sandholm was denied his right to a unanimous jury 4
	a. Jury unanimity is required when the State charges a defendant with an offense consisting of alternative means
	b. The State alleged Mr. Sandholm committed the crime by alternative means
	c. Because there was insufficient evidence of one of the charged alternatives, the Court must dismiss that charge and remand for retrial on the remaining count
	2. The trial court deprived Mr. Sandholm of a fair trial by admitting evidence of his prior crimes
	a. Mr. Sandholm objected to the admission of evidence of his prior convictions
	b. The fact that Mr. Sandholm is a recidivist is not an element of the offense of driving under the influence
	c. Evidence of Mr. Sandholm's prior convictions was not relevant
	d. The right to a fair trial includes the right to be tried for the charged offense, without irrelevant accusations of other wrongful conduct years ago

	convictions requires reversal
	3. The trial court miscalculated Mr. Sandholm's offender score
	a. The prosecution must prove a person's criminal history before the court may calculate the accurate criminal history at sentencing
	b. The court miscalculated Mr. Sandholm's offender score
	 i. RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e) does not permit inclusion of any offense which is not specifically listed in a person's offender score
	ii. RCW 9.94A.525(e) did not permit the inclusion of Mr. Sandholm's 1998 and 1999 offenses in his offender score.
	4. The trial court erred in imposing alternative terms of community custody
E.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Constitutional Provisions
Const. Art. I, § 21 1, 4 Const. Art. I, § 22 1, 15, 16 U.S. Const. amend. V 16 U.S. Const. amend. XIV 1, 2, 15
Washington Supreme Court
In re the Personal Restraint of Goodwin, 146 Wn.2d 861, 50 P.3d 618 (2002)
P.2d 1293 (1980)
State v. Beaver, 148 Wn.2d 338, 60 P.3d 586 (2002)
State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997)
State v. Boyd, 174 Wn.2d 470, 275 P.3d 321 (2012)
State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 472, 973 P.2d 452 (1999)
State v. Franklin, 172 Wn.2d 831, 263 P.3d 585 (2011)
State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980)
State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 857 P.2d 270 (1993)14
State v. Hunley, 175 Wn.2d 901, 287 P.3d 584 (2012)26
State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 756 P.2d 105 (1988)
State v. Mack, 80 Wn.2d 19, 490 P.2d 1303 (1971)
State v. Mendoza, 165 Wn.2d 913, 205 P.3d 113 (2009)
State v. Moeurn, 170 Wn.2d 169, 240 P.3d 1158 (2010)
State v. Mutch, 171 Wn.2d 646, 254 P.3d 803 (2011)
State v. Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d 702, 881 P.2d 231 (1994) 5, 7
State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 683 P.2d 173 (1984)
State v. Rivera-Santos, 166 Wn.2d 722, 214 P.3d 130, 132
(2009)
State v. Roggenkamp, 153 Wn.2d 614, 106 P.3d 196 (2005) 20
State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)
State v. Wheeler, 145 Wn.2d 116, 34 P.3d 799 (2001)
State v. Williams. 162 Wn.2d 177, 170 P.3d 30 (2007) 10, 11, 12, 13
State v. Yates, 161 Wn.2d 714, 168 P.3d 359 (2007)
Tommy P. v. Board of Cy. Comm'rs, 97 Wn.2d 385, 645
P.2d 697 (1982)

Washington Court of Appeals
State v. Acosta, 123 Wn. App. 424, 98 P.2d 503 (2004)
United States Supreme Court
Almendarez-Torres v. United States, 523 U.S. 224, 118 S. Ct. 1219, 140 L. Ed. 2d 350 (1998)
Statutes
former RCW 9.94A.715
RCW 46.61.502passim
RCW 46.61.5055
RCW 46.61.50611
RCW 9.94A.030
RCW 9.94A.525passim
RCW 9.94A.530
RCW 9.94A.701
RCW 9A.20.02028
RCW 9A.76.170

Court Rules ER 404 passim Other Authorities Colley v. Sumner, 784 F.2d 984 (9th Cir. 1986) 16 Jammal v. Van de Kamp, 926 F.2d 918 (9th Cir. 1991) 15 State v. Cox, 781 N.W.2d 757 (Iowa 2010) 16 Walters v. Maass, 45 F.3d 1355 (9th Cir. 1995) 16

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court deprived Mr. Sandholm of his right to a unanimous jury.
- The trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence of Mr. Sandholm's prior convictions.
- 3. The trial court deprived Mr. Sandholm of a fair trial contrary to the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause by admitting evidence of Mr. Sandholm's prior convictions.
- 4. The trial court erred in calculating Mr. Sandholm's offender score.
- The trial court erred in imposing a term of community custody.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Article I, section 21 and Article I, section 22 together provide the right to a unanimous jury in all criminal trials. This right in turn requires that in cases in which the State alleges a single crime may have been committed by alternative means, the court must instruct the jury it must unanimously agree upon a single alternative means. Where the trial court does not provide the required unanimity instruction and there

is insufficient evidence to support at least one of the alternatives means must this Court reverse Mr. Sandholm's conviction?

- 2. Generally a court may only admit relevant evidence. Under ER 404, evidence of prior acts is not admissible to prove propensity and is only admissible if relevant to some other material purpose.

 Evidence of Mr. Sandholm's prior offenses was not relevant for any material purpose in proving the crime of Driving Under the Influence.

 Did the court abuse its discretion in admitting evidence of the prior convictions?
- 3. The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment guarantees a criminal defendant a fair trial. The admission of unfairly prejudicial evidence of prior crimes may deprive a defendant of a fair trial. Did the court's erroneous admission of Mr. Sandholm's prior convictions deprive him a fair trial and due process?
- 4. A court must determine a person's offender score pursuant to the provisions of RCW 9.94A.525. Where a court miscalculates an offender score the matter must be remanded for resentencing. Where the court erroneously calculated Mr. Sandholm's offender score as "8" must this Court remand the matter for resentencing?

5. The Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) is the sole source of a trial court's sentencing authority for felony offenses. Under RCW 9.94A.701(9) the trial court must reduce the term of community custody where the combined term of community custody and confinement exceeds the statutory maximum for an offense. Where the trial court imposed a 60-month sentence for a Class C felony yet also imposed a 12-month term of community custody, must this Court order the trial court to correct the erroneous sentence?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 29, 2009, a State Patrol trooper stopped Mr. Sandholm. 1/31/13. The trooper had observed Mr. Sandholm commit three minor lane infractions over a span of about two miles. *Id.* at 102-10, 123. When he spoke with Mr. Sandholm, the officer noticed an odor of alcohol. *Id.* at 124-26.

Following his arrest, Mr. Sandholm agreed to provide breath samples. The samples provided results of .079 and .08. 2/7/13 RP 31-33. The margin of error results in range as low as .072. *Id*.

Nevertheless, the State charged Mr. Sandholm with Driving Under the Influence (DUI). CP 329-30.

Over Mr. Sandholm's objection the jury was permitted to hear evidence of his prior convictions for the same offense. The trial court concluded the evidence was necessary to prove an element of the offense, believing that prior offenses which merely elevated the punishment of the offense were elements. 11/3/10 RP 85-86. The evidence was admitted by a stipulation after the court denied the motion to exclude the evidence. 11/3/10 RP 85. The first trial resulted in a hung jury.

Subsequently the trial court on two occasions started trial only to declare a mistrial on the first and dismissed the jury venire on the second. 12/12/11 RP 31; 1/23/12

During a second trial, the jury heard evidence of Mr.

Sandholm's prior convictions by stipulation. 2/7/12 RP 73. The jury convicted Mr. Sandholm of DUI. CP 1441.

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. Mr. Sandholm was denied his right to a unanimous jury.
 - a. <u>Jury unanimity is required when the State charges a</u> defendant with an offense consisting of alternative means.

The Washington Constitution requires a unanimous jury verdict in criminal matters. Const. Art. I, § 21. When the State alleges a

defendant has committed a crime by alternative means, the right to a unanimous jury is offended unless the State elects the means upon which it is relying or the jury is instructed that it must unanimously agree on a single means. *State v. Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d 403, 409, 756 P.2d 105 (1988) (citing *State v. Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d 566, 569, 683 P.2d 173 (1984)). Where neither of these options is met, reversal is required unless the evidence supporting each alternative is sufficient to the support the conviction. *State v. Ortega–Martinez*, 124 Wn.2d 702, 707–08, 881 P.2d 231 (1994).

b. Although the State alleged Mr. Sandholm committed the crime by alternative means the jury was not instructed that it must be unanimous..

RCW 46.61.502(1) sets forth three alternatives means of committing driving under the influence: driving while: (1) having an alcohol concentration of 0.08 or higher within two hours after driving, (2) being under the influence of any intoxicating liquor or drug, or (3) being under the influence of a combination of intoxicating liquor or any drug. *State v. Shabel*, 95 Wn. App. 469, 474, 976 P.2d 153 (1999); *see also, State v. Rivera-Santos*, 166 Wn.2d 722, 728, 214 P.3d 130, 132 (2009).

The State alleged Mr. Sandholm committed the offense under two alternatives: (1) with driving while under the influence of or while affected by intoxicating liquor, or (2) while under the combined influence of or while affected by intoxicating liquor and any drug. CP 329. The trial court instructed the jury on both alternatives. CP 1431-32. Mr. Sandholm objected to the instruction, arguing the State had not presented any evidence that he was under the influence of drugs. 2/9/12 RP 100.

The jury was not instructed that it must unanimously agree as to the alternatives means. Indeed the court affirmatively instructed the jury they need not unanimously agree. CP 1431-32. That instruction misstates the law.

c. Because there was insufficient evidence of one of the charged alternatives, the Court must dismiss that charge and remand for retrial on the remaining count.

The Supreme Court has said:

If the evidence is *sufficient* to support each alternative means submitted to the jury a particularized expression of unanimity as to the means by which the defendant committed the crime is unnecessary to affirm the conviction because we infer that the jury rested its decision on a unanimous finding as to the means. On the other hand, if the evidence is *insufficient* to present a jury question as to the whether the defendant committed the

crime by any one of the means submitted to the jury, the conviction will not be affirmed.

Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d at 707-08 (Emphasis in original, internal citations omitted). Nothing in that holding suggests that unanimity is not required. Instead, the court was merely defining the appellate standard, i.e., that the failure to ensure unanimity is harmless only if there is sufficient evidence of each alternative. Thus, affirmatively instructing the jury that it need not be unanimous was error.

That error requires reversal because the State did not offer sufficient evidence of both alternatives. Specifically, the State offered no evidence that Mr. Sandholm was under the combined influence or effect of drugs and alcohol. Indeed, the State did not offer any evidence of drug impairment at all. Absent such proof, no reasonable jury could find Mr. Sandholm was under the combined effect of drugs and alcohol.

The State did not prove each alternative beyond a reasonable doubt. The absence of jury unanimity requires reversal of Mr.

Sandholm's conviction and dismissal of the unsupported alternative – the combined-affect alternative. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 233, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

- 2. The trial court deprived Mr. Sandholm of a fair trial by admitting evidence of his prior crimes.
 - a. Mr. Sandholm objected to the admission of evidence of his prior convictions.

Well before trial, Mr. Sandholm made a motion to exclude evidence of his prior convictions. 11/3/10 RP 85. Specifically, he argued the evidence was not relevant under ER 403 and was inadmissible under ER 404. 11/3/10 RP 85. Mr. Sandholm noted the only relevance of the prior convictions was to determine his punishment if the jury convicted him. *Id.* The trial court denied the motion, erroneously believing the proof of prior convictions was an element of the offense. *Id.* at 89-90.

b. The fact that Mr. Sandholm is a recidivist is not an element of the offense of driving under the influence.

An element is "essential" if its "specification is necessary to establish the very illegality of the behavior." *State v. Yates*, 161 Wn.2d 714, 757, 168 P.3d 359 (2007). Although not using the term "element," the United States Supreme Court "explicitly [held] that the Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged." *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90

S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). But the Court has made clear that this constitutional standard does not apply to prior offenses, even where recidivist facts increase the maximum punishment for an offense.

Almendarez-Torres v. United States, 523 U.S. 224, 241, 118 S. Ct. 1219, 140 L. Ed. 2d 350 (1998).

In Almendarez-Torres the Court found the recidivist fact was not an element of the offense for a variety of reasons. First, because although it was contained in the same statute as the "elements" of the offense, Congress had not stated its intent that the recidivist fact be considered an element, 523 U.S. at 234. Next the Court noted recidivism was a fact that "is neither 'presumed' to be present, nor need be 'proved' to be present, in order to prove the commission of the relevant crime. Id. at 241. Noting the unfair prejudice which flows from evidence of prior offenses, and the absence of an expressed contrary intent, the Court stated "we do not believe, other things being equal, that Congress would have wanted to create this kind of unfairness in respect to facts that are almost never contested." Id. at 235. Finally, the Court concluded that its precedent interpreting the constitutional parameters of which facts constitute elements did not require a different conclusions because "recidivism . . . is a traditional, if not the most traditional, basis for a

sentencing court's increasing an offender's sentence." *Id.* at 243. The Washington Supreme Court has echoed that conclusion saying "[t]raditional factors considered by a judge in determining the appropriate sentence, such as prior criminal history, are not elements of the crime." *State v. Wheeler*, 145 Wn.2d 116, 120, 34 P.3d 799 (2001). Thus, merely because a fact increases the punishment for an offense, even substantially so, does not make that fact an element of the offense.

Moreover, the penalty classification of the offense is not an element of the offense. *State v. Williams*. 162 Wn.2d 177, 187-88, 170 P.3d 30 (2007). This is so even if the penalty classification is contained in the same statute setting forth the elements of the offense. *Id.* Using an analysis similar to that in *Almendarez-Torres*, *Williams* rejected an argument that the penalty classification of bail jumping, specifically the nature of the offense on which the person was admitted to bail, was an element of the offense. 162 Wn.2d at 188.

The bail jumping statue, RCW 9A.76.170, provides in relevant part:

(1) Any person having been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before any court of this state, or of the requirement to report to a correctional facility for service of sentence, and who fails to appear or who fails to surrender for service of sentence as required is guilty of bail jumping.

• •

- (3) Bail jumping is:
- (a) A class A felony if the person was held for, charged with, or convicted of murder in the first degree;
- (b) A class B felony if the person was held for, charged with, or convicted of a class A felony other than murder in the first degree;
- (c) A class C felony if the person was held for, charged with, or convicted of a class B or class C felony;
- (d) A misdemeanor if the person was held for, charged with, or convicted of a gross misdemeanor or misdemeanor.

Williams concluded that because "Subsection (1) defines the elements of bail jumping and does not explicitly or implicitly reference the penalties in subsection (3)" the provisions of subsection (3) were not elements of the offense. 162 Wn.2d at 188.

RCW 46.61.502 mirrors the bail jumping statute at issue in *Williams* and the federal statute at issue in *Almendarez-Torres*. RCW 46.61.502 provides:

- (1) A person is guilty of driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor, marijuana, or any drug if the person drives a vehicle within this state:
- (a) And the person has, within two hours after driving, an alcohol concentration of 0.08 or higher as shown by analysis of the person's breath or blood made under RCW 46.61.506; or
- (b) The person has, within two hours after driving, a THC concentration of 5.00 or higher as shown by analysis of the person's blood made under RCW 46.61.506; or
- (c) While the person is under the influence of or

affected by intoxicating liquor, marijuana, or any drug; or

(d) While the person is under the combined influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor, marijuana, and any drug.

. . . .

- (5) Except as provided in subsection (6) of this section, a violation of this section is a gross misdemeanor.
- (6) It is a class C felony punishable under chapter 9.94A RCW, or chapter 13.40 RCW if the person is a juvenile, if:
- (a) The person has four or more prior offenses within ten years as defined in RCW 46.61.5055; or
 - (b) The person has ever previously been convicted of:
- (i) Vehicular homicide while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug, RCW 46.61.520(1)(a);
- (ii) Vehicular assault while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug, RCW 46.61.522(1)(b);
- (iii) An out-of-state offense comparable to the offense specified in (b)(i) or (ii) of this subsection; or
- (iv) A violation of this subsection (6) or RCW 46.61.504(6).

The legislature did not include the existence of prior offenses within the elements of DUI set forth in RCW 46.61.502(1). Nor does that subsection reference the penalties set forth in subsection (6). As in *Almendarez-Torres*, subsection (6) does not alter the "pre-existing definition of a well-established crime." 523 U.S. at 246. As in *Williams* the acts which establish the "illegality of the behavior" are set forth in subsection (1). As in *Williams*, subsection (6) merely determines the punishment which flows from the illegality.

The legislature has not expressed an intent to make recidivism an element. And in light of the prejudicial nature of such evidence, that intent should not be presumed. *Almendarez-Torres*, 523 U.S. at 235.

The State might respond that the existence of the recidivist fact is critical because it determines whether an offense may be charged in district court as opposed to superior court. But this Court has held that facts which merely determine which court may hear a case, i.e., jurisdictional facts, are not elements which must be proved to the jury beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Childress*, 169 Wn. App. 523, 532, 280 P.3d 1144 (2012), *review denied*, 176 Wn.2d 1002 (2013). Further, the same argument could be raised with respect to the bail jumping statute, yet *Williams* concluded that fact was not en element.

The recidivist facts merely determine the punishment for DUI under RCW 46.61.502(6) and are not elements of the offense of DUI.

Judge St. Clair recognized as much when prior to the first trial, he prohibited the State from referring to the offense as "felony DUI." 5/11/11 RP 64. Judge St. Clair recognized that the statute defines a single offense and then sets forth different penalties based upon the prior offense.

Within constitutional limits, the legislature is free to define the elements of a crime. The legislature has defined the elements of DUI in

RCW 46.61.502(1). Those elements do not include proof of prior convictions.

c. Evidence of Mr. Sandholm's prior convictions was not relevant.

Evidence is admissible only if it is relevant. ER 402. Evidence is relevant if it makes a material fact more or less likely. ER 401. Even if relevant, evidence is inadmissible if its improper prejudice outweighs its probative value. ER 403.

Generally, evidence of prior acts of the defendant admitted solely to prove propensity to commit an offense is not admissible. ER 404(a). But, ER 404(b) provides:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

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