NO. 68413-2-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

KENNETH SANDHOLM,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE MICHAEL HEAVEY

## **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

JENNIFER P. JOSEPH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

# **

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

## C. ARGUMENT

1. UNANIMITY AS TO ALTERNATIVE MEANS WAS NOT REQUIRED BECAUSE THERE IS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT BOTH ALTERNATIVES.

Sandholm contends that the court violated his constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict because insufficient evidence

supported one of the alternative means considered by the jury and the court did not give a unanimity instruction. Because the same evidence proved both alternatives in this case, the argument should be rejected.

Criminal defendants have a right to an expressly unanimous verdict. Wash. Const. art. I, § 21; State v. Ortega-Martinez, 124
Wn.2d 702, 707, 881 P.2d 231 (1994). When the charged crime can be committed by more than one means, however, unanimity is not required as to the means by which the crime was committed, so long as substantial evidence supports each alternative means. State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 410, 756 P.2d 105 (1988). "The threshold test governing whether unanimity is required on an underlying means of committing a crime is whether sufficient evidence exists to support each of the alternative means presented to the jury." Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d at 707-08; State v. Ortiz, 80 Wn. App. 746, 749-50, 911 P.2d 411 (1996). If there is substantial evidence of each alternative, the conviction will stand. Id.

The State charged Sandholm with DUI under two alternatives: that he drove a vehicle while he was (1) "under the influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor or any drug," and (2) "under the combined influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor and any drug."

CP 329. The court instructed the jury on both alternatives.

CP 1430-32. The "to convict" instruction provided that the jury need not be unanimous as to which of the alternative means has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, "as long as each juror finds that at least one alternative has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt." CP 1431.

Sandholm first contends that the pattern "to convict" instruction misstated the law by informing the jury that it need not be unanimous as to which alternative means had been proven.<sup>2</sup> This Court should reject the argument, which is reviewed de novo. <u>State v. Besabe</u>, 166 Wn. App. 872, 881, 271 P.3d 387 (2012).

Sandholm argues that <u>Ortega-Martinez</u> did not hold that a jury need not be unanimous as to the means, but only that a conviction would not be reversed on that basis as long as sufficient evidence supports each alternative. Brief of Appellant at 7. Thus, he argues, the trial court erred by affirmatively instructing the jury that it need not be unanimous. He fails to support his reading of <u>Ortega-Martinez</u> with any authority, and his position is belied by caselaw both predating and postdating <u>Ortega-Martinez</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> WPIC 92.02.

Washington courts have consistently re-affirmed that jury unanimity is not required if sufficient evidence supports each of the alternative means. See, e.g., State v. Fortune, 128 Wn.2d 464, 909 P.2d 930 (1996); State v. Klimes, 117 Wn. App. 758, 73 P.3d 416 (2003), disapproved of on other grounds by State v. Allen, 127 Wn. App. 125, 110 P.3d 849 (2005). Additionally, Kitchen, on which Ortega-Martinez relied, held that unanimity in alternative means cases is required only as to the overall offense, rather than for each of the alternative means, so long as sufficient evidence supports each of the alternatives. 110 Wn.2d at 410. Because the instruction given here accurately conveyed the law, there was no error. Besabe, 166 Wn. App. at 881.

Sandholm next contends that his conviction must be reversed because the State failed to prove each alternative beyond a reasonable doubt. Specifically, Sandholm argues that the State failed to prove that he was impaired by the combined influence of drugs and alcohol. While Sandholm correctly observes that the State presented no evidence of drug impairment, reversal is not required because the trial record and jury instructions demonstrate that the jury must have relied on the alcohol-impairment theory alone and

because the substantial evidence of alcohol impairment supports both alternatives.

The trial court instructed the jury to base its decision only on the evidence contained in the testimony and exhibits. CP 1423-23. There was no evidence that Sandholm's use of Advil, Orajel, and an asthma inhaler contributed to his impairment. The prosecutors made no reference to the over-the-counter drugs or to the "combined influence" alternative in closing argument, except in quoting the jury instructions. Instead, the prosecutor's closing argument and the evidence she adduced at trial made clear that the State was relying exclusively on the "under the influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor" theory. Thus, in order to find Sandholm guilty of DUI, the jury could not have relied on the "combined influence" alternative and must have relied on the alcohol impairment alone. See State v. Rivas, 97 Wn. App. 349, 352-53, 984 P.2d 432 (1999) (holding evidence was sufficient to support assault conviction, even though there was no evidence as to two of the three charged alternative means, where trial record and information made clear that the State was relying on the third alternative means, for which evidence was sufficient), disapproved on other grounds by State v. Smith, 159 Wn.2d 778, 154 P.3d 873 (2007).

Moreover, the substantial evidence that Sandholm was driving under the influence of alcohol is also logically sufficient to prove that he was under the "combined influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor and any drug." Even if Sandholm's impairment was caused entirely by the alcohol, with the drugs contributing nothing, he was still affected by the combination of the alcohol and non-impairing drugs. Thus, in this unique situation, the same evidence proves both alternatives. Reversal is not required.

2. EVIDENCE OF PRIOR DUI CONVICTIONS IS ADMISSIBLE IN A FELONY DUI PROSECUTION TO PROVE AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF THE OFFENSE.

Sandholm contends that the trial court erred by admitting evidence of his prior convictions because the fact that he is a DUI recidivist is not an essential element of the charged offense and evidence of the prior convictions was both irrelevant and unduly prejudicial. He is mistaken.

Former RCW 46.61.502 (2009) provides, in relevant part, as follows:

- (1) A person is guilty of driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug if the person drives a vehicle within this state:
- (a) And the person has, within two hours after driving, an alcohol concentration of 0.08 or higher as shown by

analysis of the person's breath or blood made under RCW 46.61.506; or

- (b) While the person is under the influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor or any drug; or
- (c) While the person is under the combined influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor and any drug.

\*\*\*

- (5) Except as provided in subsection (6) of this section, a violation of this section is a gross misdemeanor.
- (6) It is a class C felony punishable under chapter 9.94A RCW, or chapter 13.40 RCW if the person is a juvenile, if: (a) The person has four or more prior offenses within ten years as defined in RCW 46.61.5055; or (b) the person has ever previously been convicted of (i) vehicular homicide while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug, RCW 46.61.520(1)(a), (ii) vehicular assault while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug, RCW 46.61.522(1)(b), or (iii) an out-of-state offense comparable to the offense specified in (b)(i) or (ii) of this subsection.

Sandholm argues that subsection (6), which requires proof of prior convictions, does not constitute an "element" of the crime of DUI, but merely provides for enhanced punishment for DUI recidivists. But that position is contradicted by this Court's express observation that a "plain reading of ... subsection (6) adds an additional element to the list of elements stated in subsection (1) to define the offense of felony driving under the influence." State v. Castle, 156 Wn. App. 539, 543, 234 P.3d 260 (2010). Accord, State

v. Chambers, 157 Wn. App. 465, 468, 237 P.3d 352 (2010), rev. denied, 170 Wn.2d 1031 (2011) ("the fact that a person has four prior DUI offenses is an essential element of the crime of felony DUI under former RCW 46.61.502(6), that must be proved to the jury beyond a reasonable doubt"). See also State v. Roswell, 165 Wn.2d 186, 189, 196 P.3d 705 (2008) (holding that when prior convictions raise the level of a crime from a misdemeanor to a felony, "the prior convictions are elements of the charged crime that the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt"). Indeed, this Court has held that the failure to allege in the information "the essential statutory element that [the defendant] has four prior DUI offenses 'within ten years'" is a fatal error requiring dismissal without prejudice. State v. Cochrane, 160 Wn. App. 18, 20, 253 P.3d 95 (2011).

The legislature is presumably aware of this Court's decisions interpreting the DUI statute, yet has declined to change the statute to indicate a contrary intent (despite having amended the statute in other ways since this Court's decision in <u>Chambers</u>). Thus, the legislature is deemed to have acquiesced to the decisions. <u>See City of Federal Way v. Koenig</u>, 167 Wn.2d 341, 348, 217 P.3d 1172 (2009).

Sandholm's argument that evidence of the prior convictions was irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial also fails. "If a prior conviction is an element of the crime charged, evidence of its existence will never be irrelevant." Roswell, 165 Wn.2d at 198. Although evidence that the accused has been convicted of the same offense in the past is certainly prejudicial, "[o]ne can always argue that evidence that tends to prove any element of a crime will have some prejudicial impact on the defendant." Id.

Trial courts may reduce unnecessary prejudice by giving a limiting instruction or by bifurcating the jury instructions so that the jury considers whether the prior convictions have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt only after it finds the defendant guilty of the misdemeanor version of the crime. Roswell, 165 Wn.2d at 198 (citing with approval State v. Oster, 147 Wn.2d 141, 52 P.3d 26 (2002)). In this case, the trial court took both of these actions, bifurcating the instructions and instructing the jury not to consider the evidence concerning the existence of prior offenses to determine whether Sandholm was guilty of DUI on this occasion. CP 1431-32, 1437-39.

Further, the evidence of Sandholm's prior convictions was limited to this stipulation: "At the time of the arrest in this case, the

defendant, KENNETH SANDHOLM, had been previously convicted of four or more prior offenses within ten years as defined by RCW 46.61.5055 (14)." CP 1332. The trial court also ruled that the parties must refrain from using the word "felony" to identify Sandholm's current offense. 5/11/11 RP 64-65; 1/23/12 RP 12-19 (dismissing jury panel after inadvertently using the word "felony" during voir dire). Thus, the jury was not informed of the nature or details of Sandholm's previous offenses or the fact that their existence raised the current offense to a felony.

Under clearly established case law and the plain language of RCW 46.61.502, the trial court properly admitted evidence of Sandholm's prior DUI convictions and properly exercised its discretion to avoid unnecessary prejudice. Sandholm's argument to the contrary is without merit and must be rejected.

3. THE STATE AGREES THAT SANDHOLM'S OFFENDER SCORE WAS MISCALCULATED.

Sandholm alleges that two of his prior DUI convictions and two felony drug convictions should not have been included in his offender score because they washed out under RCW 9.94A.525(e). With

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> On appeal, Sandholm claims that he moved to exclude evidence of his prior convictions as irrelevant under ER 403 and inadmissible under ER 404. Brief of Appellant at 8. In fact, it appears that Sandholm's pro se motion was merely "to exclude the word 'felony' from any and all reference in front of the jury." 11/3/10 RP 84-85.

respect to the 1998 and 1999 DUI convictions, the State agrees.

But because the felony drug offenses do not wash under RCW

9.94A.525(c), the trial court properly included them in his score. This

Court should remand for resentencing.

A sentencing court's offender score calculation is reviewed de novo. State v. Wilson, 113 Wn. App. 122, 136, 52 P.3d 545 (2002), rev. denied, 149 Wn.2d 1006 (2003). An erroneously scored prior conviction is a legal error. In re Personal Restraint of Goodwin, 146 Wn.2d 861, 874, 50 P.3d 618 (2002). A sentence based on an improperly calculated score lacks statutory authority. Id. "A sentence in excess of statutory authority is subject to challenge, and the defendant is entitled to be resentenced." Id. at 869.

RCW 9.94A.525 governs offender score calculation. The pertinent portions of the statute are as follows:

The offender score is the sum of points accrued under this section rounded down to the nearest whole number.

\*\*\*

(2)(c) Except as provided in (e) of this subsection, class C prior felony convictions other than sex offenses shall not be included in the offender score if, since the last date of release from confinement (including full-time residential treatment) pursuant to a felony conviction, if any, or entry of judgment and

sentence, the offender had spent five consecutive years in the community without committing any crime that subsequently results in a conviction.

- (d) Except as provided in (e) of this subsection, serious traffic convictions shall not be included in the offender score if, since the last date of release from confinement (including full-time residential treatment) pursuant to a felony conviction, if any, or entry of judgment and sentence, the offender spent five years in the community without committing any crime that subsequently results in a conviction.
- (e) If the present conviction is felony driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug (RCW 46.61.502(6)) or felony physical control of a vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug (RCW 46.61.504(6)), prior convictions of felony driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug, felony physical control of a vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug, and serious traffic offenses shall be included in the offender score if: (i) The prior convictions were committed within five years since the last date of release from confinement (including full-time residential treatment) or entry of judgment and sentence; or (ii) the prior convictions would be considered "prior offenses within ten years" as defined in RCW 46.61.5055.

RCW 9.94A.525 (2009).

In <u>State v. Morales</u>, 168 Wn. App. 489, 278 P.3d 668 (2012), this Court concluded that "the plain language of RCW 9.94A.525 indicates that arrests occurring more than 10 years before [the defendant's arrest in the pending case] shall not be included under subsection (2)(e)(ii)." <u>Id.</u> at 495. In this case, the trial court counted

two DUI convictions from 1998 and 1999 that were based on arrests occurring more than ten years before Sandholm's arrest on the instant charge. This was error. Sandholm is entitled to be resentenced with an offender score of six, rather than eight.

Sandholm's offender score also included two convictions for Violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act (VUCSA).

Relying on Morales, Sandholm contends that this was error because the only offenses that count when an offender is sentenced for felony DUI are those that are listed in RCW 9.94A.525(e). Sandholm misinterprets Morales.

Morales was convicted of felony DUI. 168 Wn. App. at 491. The trial court calculated an offender score of eight in part by counting four "serious traffic offense" convictions that were more than 10 years old. Id. at 493-94. The State argued that these convictions counted under RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e)(i), which provides that prior convictions for DUI-related or serious traffic offenses are included if "committed within five years since the last date of release from confinement ... or entry of judgment and sentence." Though nine years had passed between Morales's 1992 conviction for physical control of a motor vehicle and his next DUI conviction, the

State argued that an intervening misdemeanor assault conviction prevented the earlier offenses from washing out. <u>Id.</u> at 496-97.

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